

SOCIAL WORK UNDERGRADUATE PROGRAM STUDENT HANDBOOK

ACADEMIC YEAR 2025-2026

Revised July 2025¹

¹ "The BSSW Handbook was revised July 2025, and the Stockton Bulletin and other university publications are in the process of being revised.

Table of Contents

Introduction	3
Stockton University	3
Equal Opportunity University	3
Affirmative Action	3
The Social Work Program Philosophy	4
Mission, Goals, and Competencies	4
Key Professional Attributes of Stockton Social Work Majors	9
Admittance into the Social Work Program	10
Attendance and Lateness Policies	11
Withdrawal from the Social Work Program	12
Readmission	12
Names and Identified Pronouns	12
Zoom Etiquette	12
Sexual Assault Resources	12
Faculty & Professional Staff	13
Educational Approaches	
Curriculum Plan	15
Entering the Social Work Junior Sequence (Spring Semester)	16
Transferring from Community Colleges and Other Four-Year Institutions	18
Typical Social Work Curriculum	18
Credit For Life Experiences	22
Advising	22
Graduation Requirements	
Graduation with Distinction	23

Phi Alpha Honor Society	23
Social Work Club	23
Student Rights	23
Baccalaureate Child Welfare Program (BCWEP)	24
Graduate Study	24
Career Opportunity/Employment Demand	24
Certification and Licensure	25
Student Code of Conduct	26
Policies and Procedures, Professional Program Standards & Termination of Students	26
Policy to Inform Students of Additions or Changes to the Student Handbook	32
A Final Word	33

Introduction

Welcome to Stockton University Social Work Program! If you are thinking about majoring in Social Work, this *Social Work Program Student Handbook* will serve as a guide. <u>In addition to developing a familiarity with the contents of this handbook, you need to consult regularly with your Preceptor or the Program Chair.</u> Feel free to also visit our website at www.stockton.edu/sowk.

The Stockton Social Work Program was established in 1972. Graduates from our program receive a Bachelor of Science degree in Social Work and are prepared to assume entry-level positions as generalist social work practitioners or to continue their studies at the graduate level.

We wish you success as you work towards your educational and career goals, and we look forward to getting to know you.

Stockton University

Stockton University is a four-year, coeducational, undergraduate and graduate university of arts, sciences, and professional studies. Stockton is the southernmost and the youngest member in New Jersey's state- wide, state-supported system of higher education. Administratively, there are seven major academic units (Schools): Arts and Humanities (ARHU), Natural Sciences and Mathematics (NAMS), Business (BUSN), Health Sciences (HLTH), Education (EDUC), Social and Behavioral Sciences (SOBL), and General Studies (GENS). The Social Work Program is part of the Social and Behavioral Sciences (SOBL). The Dean, Assistant Dean, administrative assistants, and faculty mailboxes are located in the SOBL Office (H-210).

Stockton University's accreditation was reaffirmed by the Middle States Association of Colleges and Schools in 2022. The Social Work Program was initially accredited by the Council on Social Work Education (CSWE) in 1976, retroactive to 1975. That accreditation was reaffirmed in 1981, 1988, 1995,2003, 2011 and 2019.

Equal Opportunity University

Stockton University is an equal opportunity institution. It does not discriminate in admissions or access to its programs and activities or in treatment or employment of individuals on the basis of race, creed, religion, color, national origin/nationality, ancestry, age, sex/gender (including pregnancy), marital status, familial status, affectional or sexual orientation, gender identity or expression, domestic partnership status, atypical hereditary cellular or blood trait, genetic information, disability (including perceived disability, physical, mental, and/or intellectual disabilities), or liability for service in the Armed Forces of the United States.

Affirmative Action

Stockton University stands firmly committed to the principle of equal employment opportunity. The University employs a diverse population of men and women who represent various racial, ethnic, and economic backgrounds. The University strives to maintain and extend that diversity, not only to comply with state and federal statutes, but also to provide an educationally desirable environment. To that end, the University has developed an Affirmative Action Program to

reaffirm and operationalize fully Stockton's commitment to equal opportunity for all job classifications. The sexual harassment of students or employees by faculty, administrators, other employees or students is a form of sex discrimination prohibited by state and federal law. The University regards such behavior as a violation of the code of conduct required of all persons associated with the institution. In addition, the University complies with federal regulations which require it to employ and to advance the disabled, Vietnam-era veterans, and disabled veterans.

The Social Work Program is fully and enthusiastically committed to all of the above.

The Social Work Program Philosophy

The Social Work Program at Stockton offers undergraduate students the opportunity to pursue a professional, accredited degree program in Social Work. The Program also makes available for all students a limited number of general education and professional courses for those interested in the problems of modern society from the perspective and theoretical orientation of the social work/social welfare specialist.

Social work is a profession concerned with conditions that limit the social functioning of individuals, groups, and communities. Its purpose is to enhance client systems' social functioning and to help create a more just and supportive society for all people. Social Work, an academic and professional discipline with an organized body of values, knowledge, and skills, represents a point of view on the human condition. It is also an applied practice that is both creative and a source of insight into that condition. The problems of people are identified as resulting primarily from environmental and societal failure and not from personal pathology. Thus, social work is committed to promoting social and institutional change in addition to helping people directly in their individual difficulties. In all instances, social work begins, not with people's problems, but with their respective strength.

Mission, Goals, and Competencies

(Revised August 2025)

Mission

The Stockton University Social Work Program prepares undergraduate students for generalist social work practice with individuals, families, groups, organizations, and communities. Built on a strong liberal arts foundation, the program provides a broad-based professional education that fosters the knowledge, values, skills, and cognitive and affective competencies essential for ethical and effective practice.

Our mission is anchored in advancing social, racial, economic, and environmental justice; promoting and protecting human rights; and applying a person-in-environment framework to understand and address the complex interactions between individuals and their social, cultural, and ecological contexts.

The program is deeply committed to anti-racism, diversity, equity, and inclusion (ADEI), embedding these principles throughout its curriculum, field education, research, and community partnerships. Beyond educating social work majors, we engage the broader university community through Social Work and General Studies courses that deepen understanding of the human

condition, social systems, and structures of power and privilege.

Through teaching, scholarship, and service, we aim to:

- 1. Prepare students for generalist social work practice and professional leadership in diverse and evolving settings.
- 2. Advance knowledge that strengthens social work education and practice.
- 3. Enhance the well-being of individuals, families, and communities regionally, nationally, and globally through collaboration, advocacy, and public service.
- 4. Foster graduates' lifelong commitment to social work values, including respect for human dignity, diversity, and justice.

By emphasizing collaborative relationships, supporting practices and policies that empower individuals and communities, and addressing barriers that restrict human development and quality of life, the Stockton Social Work Program cultivates graduates dedicated to building equitable, just, and sustainable communities.

Our junior sequence amply covers theories and methods to enhance generalist practice across levels (micro, mezzo, macro). Subsequently, our senior sequence emphasizes the inextricable link of practice to policy and research methods. During the spring semesters, intentional focus is spent on integrating knowledge acquired from a wide array of liberal arts (e.g. biology, economics, psychology, sociology) and general studies courses.

Across prerequisites, core courses, and general studies classes students are prepared to practice with diverse populations (Goal I); master core competencies of generalist practice (Goal II); understand social contexts (Goal III); apply ethical principles (Goal IV); become lifelong learners (Goal V); think critically and proficiently use technology (Goal VI); and serve the profession and community (Goal VII).

Goals and Core Competencies

Goal I: To prepare graduates to practice with diverse populations, particularly those who have been placed at risk by patterns and histories of racial, economic, environmental and social injustice.

Graduates of the Stockton Social Work Program will have mastered the following core competencies:

- o Engage Anti-Racism, Diversity, Equity and Inclusion in practice
- o Advance Human Rights and Social, Racial, Economic and Environmental justice
- o Engage, assess, intervene, and evaluate with individuals, families, groups, organizations, and communities

Goal II: To provide comprehensive content about generalist social work practice.

Graduates of the Stockton Social Work Program will have mastered the following core competencies and practice behaviors:

- o Demonstrate professional behavior; appearance; and oral, written, and electronic communication
- o Use supervision and consultation to guide professional judgment and behavior.
- o Demonstrate anti-racist and anti-oppressive social work practice at the individual, family, group, organizational, community, research, and policy levels.

- o Advance human rights and social, racial, environmental and economic justice
- o Engage in research-informed practice and practice-informed research.
- o Apply knowledge of human behavior and person-in-environment, as well as interprofessional conceptual frameworks, to engage with clients and constituencies.
- Use social justice, anti-racist, and anti-oppressive lenses to assess how social welfare policies affect the delivery of and access to social services.
- o Apply critical thinking to analyze, formulate, and advocate for policies that advance human rights and social, racial, economic, and environmental justice.
- Apply theories of human behavior and person-in-environment, as well as other culturally responsive and interprofessional conceptual frameworks, when assessing clients and constituencies
- o Engage, assess, intervene, and evaluate with individuals, families, groups, organizations, and communities

Goal III: Provide content about the social contexts of social work practice.

Graduates of the Stockton Social Work Program will have mastered the following core competencies and practice behaviors:

- O Demonstrate cultural humility by applying critical reflection, self-awareness, and self regulation to manage the influence of bias, power, privilege, and values in working with clients and constituencies, acknowledging them as experts of their own lived experiences.
- Apply theories of human behavior and person-in-environment, as well as other culturally responsive and interprofessional conceptual frameworks, when assessing clients and constituencies.
- O Use social justice, anti-racist, and anti-oppressive lenses to assess how social welfare policies affect the delivery of and access to social services

Goal IV: Infuse throughout the curriculum the values and ethics that guide professional social workers in their practice.

Graduates of the Stockton Social Work Program will have mastered the following core competency and practice behavior:

 Make ethical decisions by applying the standards of the National Association of Social Workers Code of Ethics, relevant laws and regulations, models for ethical decision making, ethical conduct of research, and additional codes of ethics within the profession as appropriate to the context.

Goal V: Prepare graduates to be conscientious lifelong learners.

Graduates of the Stockton Social Work Program will have mastered the following core competency:

O Demonstrate ethical and professional behavior.

Goal VI: Prepare graduates who demonstrate the ability to think critically, write effectively, communicate effectively orally, use practice experience to inform scientific inquiry, and be comfortable with the use of computers.

<u>Graduates of the Stockton Social Work Program will have mastered the following core competencies and practice behaviors:</u>

- o Demonstrate professional behavior; appearance; and oral, written, and electronic communication.
- o Apply critical thinking to analyze, formulate, and advocate for policies that advance human

- rights and social, racial, economic, and environmental justice.
- o Engage in research-informed practice and practice-informed research.

Goal VII: Faculty of the Stockton Social Work Program will provide service to the broader university community, to the surrounding southern New Jersey region, and in wider statewide, national, and international arenas. In this way, we deepen the Social Work Program's capacity to bring professional values and ethics to the broadest possible population, representing to students what it means to be engaged professional social workers; and we demonstrate our commitment to ensure that Stockton University graduates are prepared to be citizens in a democratic, multi-cultural society.

The following table lists the Program competencies and associated practice behaviors.

COMPETENCY	PRACTICE BEHAVIORS	
Competency 1: Demonstrate Ethical and	o make ethical decisions by applying the	
Professional Behavior	standards of the NASW Code of Ethics, relevant laws and regulations, models for ethical decision-making, ethical conduct of research, and additional codes of ethics as appropriate to context; o demonstrate professional behavior; appearance; and oral, written, and electronic communication; o use technology ethically and appropriately to facilitate practice outcomes; and o use supervision and consultation to guide professional judgment and behavior.	
Competency 2: Advance Human Rights and Social, Racial, Economic and Environmental Justice	 advocate for human rights at the individual, family, group, organizational, and community system levels; and engage in practices that advance human rights to promote social, racial, economic, and environmental justice. 	
Competency 3: Engage Anti-Racism, Diversity, Equity and Inclusion (ADEI) in practice	o demonstrate anti-racist and anti-oppressive social work practice at the individual, family, group, organizational, community, research, and policy levels; and o demonstrate cultural humility by applying critical reflection, self-awareness, and self-regulation to manage the influence of bias, power, privilege, and values in working with clients and constituencies, acknowledging them as experts of their own lived experiences	

Competency 4: Engage In Practice- Informed Research and Research- informed Practice	 apply research findings to inform and improve practice, policy, and programs; and identify ethical, culturally informed, antiracist, and anti-oppressive strategies that address inherent biases for use in quantitative and qualitative research methods to advance the purposes of social work. 	
Competency 5: Engage in Policy Practice	o use social justice, anti-racist, and anti- oppressive lenses to assess how social welfare policies affect the delivery of and access to social services; and o apply critical thinking to analyze, formulate, and advocate for policies that advance human rights and social, racial, economic, and environmental justice.	
Competency 6: Engage with Individuals, Families, Groups, Organizations, and Communities	 apply knowledge of human behavior and person-in-environment, as well as interprofessional conceptual frameworks, to engage with clients and constituencies; and use empathy, reflection, and interpersonal skills to engage in culturally responsive practice with clients and constituencies. 	
Competency 7: Assess Individuals, Families, Groups, Organizations, and Communities	 apply theories of human behavior and person-inenvironment, as well as other culturally responsive and interprofessional conceptual frameworks, when assessing clients and constituencies; and demonstrate respect for client self-determination during the assessment process by collaborating with clients and constituencies in developing a mutually agreed-upon plan. 	
Competency 8: Intervene with Individuals, Families, Groups, Organizations, and Communities	 engage with clients and constituencies to critically choose and implement culturally responsive, evidence-informed interventions to achieve client and constituency goals; and incorporate culturally responsive methods to negotiate, mediate, and advocate with and on behalf of clients and constituencies. 	

Competency 9: Evaluate Practice with Individuals, Families, Groups, Organizations, and Communities	0	select and use culturally responsive methods for evaluation of outcomes; and critically analyze outcomes and apply evaluation findings to improve practice effectiveness with individuals, families, groups, organizations, and communities.

Key Professional Attributes of a Stockton Social Work Major

(revised 6/2025)

<u>Professional Behavior:</u> Students are responsible for understanding the *NASW Code of Ethics* (available at http://www.socialworkers.org) and for conducting themselves in accordance with its core values and principles—in the classroom as well as in the practicum. Students are also responsible for understanding and abiding by Stockton's Academic Honesty Policy, which is fully explained in the *Undergraduate Bulletin*.

The undergraduate social work program focuses on preparing students for generalist social work practice with individuals, families, groups, and communities. This preparation begins in the classroom, where students will encounter other students and professors with diverse backgrounds, viewpoints, and perspectives on issues. It is expected that we treat each other with respect at all times and that we strive to understand and value diversity.

All students in Stockton University's Social Work Undergraduate Program are expected to possess the following abilities and attributes. They are expected to meet these standards in the classroom, in their practicum, and elsewhere. Attention to these standards will be part of evaluations made by faculty and staff responsible for evaluating students' classroom and practicum performance (See practicum manual for more information on practicum performance).

Failure to demonstrate these key attributes consistently may lead to termination from the Social Work Undergraduate program.

Interpersonal Skills The social work student must demonstrate the interpersonal skills needed to relate effectively to other students, faculty, staff, clients and other professionals. These include compassion, altruism, integrity, ability to have face to face conversations and present in group settings. The student must have the ability to demonstrate and be comfortable with having eye contact with faculty, staff, students, and clients in the field. The student must possess a demonstration of respect for and consideration of others.

Self-Awareness The social work student must know how his/her values, attitudes, beliefs, emotions and past experiences affect his/her thinking, behavior and relationships. The student must be willing to examine and change his/her behavior when it interferes with his/her working with clients and other professionals and must be able to work effectively with others.

Professional Behavior The social work student must act in a professional manner by knowing and practicing within the scope of the social work profession, adhering to the profession's code of

ethics, respecting others, being punctual and dependable, having time management skills which include but are not limited to prioritizing responsibilities, and completing assignments on time. Time management should be demonstrated in the classroom and in the practicum internship.

Professional Communication Skills The social work student must communicate effectively and sensitively with other students, faculty, staff, clients and other professionals. Students must express their ideas and feelings clearly and demonstrate a willingness and ability to listen to others. They must have sufficient skills in spoken and written English to comprehend the content presented in the program. Professional communication is also expected in emails.

Professional Commitment to the Social Work Profession The social work student must have a strong commitment to the goals of social work and to the ethical standards of the profession. The student must be committed to the essential values of social work which are the dignity and worth of every individual and his/her right to social and economic justice.

Knowledge Base for Social Work Practice The professional activities of social work students must be based on relevant social, behavioral and biological science knowledge and research. This includes knowledge and skills in practicum, data-gathering, assessment, interventions and evaluation of practice.

Objectivity The social work student must be sufficiently objective to systematically evaluate clients and their situations without bias.

Empathy The social work student must attempt to seek to comprehend another individual's way of life and values. He/she must be able to communicate this empathy and support to the client as a basis for a productive professional relationship.

Cultural Humility, & Appreciation of Diversity The social work student must appreciate the value of human diversity. They must be able to work effectively with all persons in need of assistance, regardless of the person's age, class, race, ethnicity, religious affiliation (or lack thereof), gender, gender expression, ability, sexual orientation and value system. Social work students must work toward developing their practice with a focus on anti-racism, equity, inclusion and diversity.

Coping with Stress The social work student must be knowledgeable about the undesirable effects of stress. Students should be self-aware when stressors are negatively impacting them and take appropriate steps to implement self-care strategies, coping skills, and/or seek input from faculty or professional resources.

Admittance into the Social Work Program

Students are formally admitted to the Social Work major beginning in the fall of their junior year with acceptance into Generalist Social Work Practice: Theory and Methods I. In this course, students begin to integrate the knowledge, value, and skills of generalist social work practice. In order to register for this course all students must get the Permission of Instructor (POI) certificate. Students must have successfully taken Introduction to Social Work Human Behavior in the Social Environment courses or the equivalents. Students should also have 60-64 credits. Once students request permission of instructor in writing, the Theory and Methods instructor will review the student's academic transcript to verify completion of the two introductory courses. The instructor will notify students of their acceptance into

the Theory and Methods I course. This signifies that a student has become a full-fledged Social Work major.

Once admitted to the Social Work major in the Junior year, students must complete all social work practice courses with a final grade of "C" or better to advance to the next practice course in the curriculum sequence. Practice courses include Generalist Social Work Practice: Theory and Methods I, Generalist Social Work Practice: Theory and Methods II, Practicum Prep, Senior Seminar I and Senior Seminar II. Additionally, all social work majors must have a 2.5 GPA in Social Work courses to be able to enroll in the Senior year curriculum: Seminar: Social Work Practice I, Seminar Social Work Practice II, Practicum I and Practicum II. In order to graduate from the Bachelor of Science in Social Work (BSSW) program, students must have a Social Work GPA of 2.5 or higher. To maintain good standing in the Social Work program, students must also demonstrate professional behavior competence. These guidelines are mentioned above in "Key Professional Attributes of a Stockton University Social Work Major".

Attendance and Lateness Policies

Attendance, Preparation, and Participation: As a professional social worker, you will be expected to be reliable in attendance. Preparation for each encounter with a client system and for every professional meeting will also be expected. As a student preparing for a professional career, you are expected to come to every class and be prepared for active participation. This means doing required readings before classes, handing in assignments on time, and being attentive in class. It also means assuring that there will be no cell phone interruptions or other disruptions. Students who are unable to attend class due to an emergency are expected to call the instructor and leave a voice mail message. Students who miss more than three classes are at risk of substantial grade reduction.

Students with Learning Accommodations:

Through compliance with the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 and Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, Stockton's Learning Access Program provides assistance to students with disabilities. Every effort will be made to arrange appropriate accommodation based on a student's documented disability. Students in need of special accommodation should contact the Learning Access Program (609-652-4988).

https://stockton.edu/wellness-center/disability-services/faculty-staff-resources.html

In accordance with the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 as amended and Sections 504 and 508 of the Rehabilitation Act, students with a documented disability and a need for accommodations, are encouraged to register with the Learning Access Program (LAP). Registration for support services is strictly voluntary and on a confidential basis. Support services provided by LAP are meant to help students devise strategies for meeting the University's educational demands and to foster independence, responsibility, and self-advocacy. The Learning Access Program can be found on campus in room J-204 or online at www.stockton.edu/LAP. Please call 609-652-4988 or send an email to LAP@stockton.edu for more information. Once you have received an accommodation letter from LAP, please contact your instructor to privately discuss your needs as soon as practical to ensure that reasonable accommodations are implemented. Accommodations are not retroactively applied.

Withdrawal from the Social Work Program

Students who wish to withdraw must notify the Social Work Program Chair and the student's preceptor in writing via email.

Readmission

The student must notify the Social Work Program chair and their preceptor by email of your request for readmission by **March 1**st for fall semester readmission or **October 1**st for spring semester readmission, whichever is applicable. Students in their Junior or Senior year of the Social Work program must also email the Practicum Coordinator by those same dates for practicum placement consideration. Requests for a practicum placement after these dates may not be able to be fulfilled.

Names and Identified Pronouns

If you are interested in using a name or preferred pronoun other than what is listed on the roster, please do not hesitate to let program faculty and staff know. It is the Social Work Program's express wish to respect people's ability to self-define their identity and this will be supported in the Social Work program by faculty, staff and students.

ZOOM Etiquette

When utilizing Zoom to attend a class or a meeting (i.e., faculty conference, precepting) please adhere to the following ZOOM Etiquette:

- *Find a quiet space and dress appropriately.*
- Make sure your full name shows up.
- Refrain from zooming in while you are driving
- Refrain from vaping/smoking when you are on zoom.
- Mute until you are required to talk. Use the Zoom functions to communicate if needed (chat, raise your hand, answer yes/no, etc.).
- Turn off/silence cell phone and close other windows on your computer.
- Be on time to class and stay until the class is over. Communicate with your instructor (via email) if you will be late/leave early, or if you lose your connection during class.
- Pay attention! Maintain eye contact with the speaker on the screen.

Sexual Assault Resources

If you find yourself a victim of sexual misconduct, including sexual assault, domestic violence, dating violence, and/or stalking, the following resources are available to you at Stockton and in Atlantic County.

CONFIDENTIAL RESOURCES:

WGSC Hotline: 609-849-8473
Counseling Center: 609-652-4722
Avanzar: 1-800-286-4184
(www.avanzarnow.org) is the county domestic violence/sexual assault program.

NON-CONFIDENTIAL RESOURCES:

Stockton Police: 609-652-4390 Student Rights and Responsibilities: 609-626-3585 Title IX Coordinator, Tammy 609-652-4693

Saunders:

BSSW Faculty and Professional Staff

The faculty and professional staff of the Undergraduate Social Work Program is part of the School of Social and Behavioral Science (SOBL). Their contact information can be found using the following information.

Ted Alter H-229 652-4411 (Ext. 4411)

Ph.D, (Yeshiva University), MSW (Wurzweiler School of Social Work), Associate Professor of Social Work; with a focus on Aging, dementia, life cycle, health care, end-of-life, ethics, chronic illness and disability.

Nicole Cantoni H-221 652-3488 (Ext. 3488)

Ph.D., LSW (University of Illinois Urbana-Champaign), Assistant Professor of Social Work: Animal Assisted Interventions and Animal Assisted Therapy, Simulations for Teaching Clinical Skills, Mental Health Treatment Stigma Reduction, DEI Education.

Lisa E. Cox F-126 652-4310 (Ext. 4310)

Ph.D. (Virginia Commonwealth University), M.S.W. (Virginia Commonwealth University), LCSW, Professor of Social Work, with a focus on clinical social work practice, health care, HIV/AIDS clinical trials, gerontology, medication compliance and social support, psychopathology, and cultural neuroscience.

Douglas Deane H-223 626-3562 (Ext.

3562) MSW (Arizona State University), <u>Coordinator of BSSW Practicum Education</u>, with a background in supervisory and clinical experience in mental and behavioral health.

Rachel Kirzner H-202 652-4689 (Ext.

4689) Ph.D. (Bryn Mawr), MSW (University of Pennsylvania), LCSW, Associate Professor of Social Work, with a focus in social policy (public benefits), data analysis, research methods, social work practice, neighborhood effects, community violence exposure.

Dawn Konrady Fanslau G-258 652-4270 (Ext. 4270)

Ed.D. (Drexel University), MBA (Stockton University), MA (La Salle University), Director, Child Welfare Education Institute, Baccalaureate Child Welfare Education Program Coordinator, with a background in bilingual-bicultural studies in Spanish and business administration.

Maya A. Lewis G-243 652-4329 (Ext. 4329)

Ph.D. (University of Maryland, Baltimore), MSW (Washington University in St. Louis), BSSW

^{*} MSW faculty members who may serve as preceptors or on the Professional Standing Committee can be found using the following link: (https://stockton.edu/social-behavioral-sciences/social-work-bsw/index.html)

<u>Program Chair</u>, Associate Professor of Social Work, with significant experience in social work/mental health administration, adolescent psychiatry, and college mental health. Research interests include both quantitative and qualitative methods in areas such as sexual risk behavior among African American college women, maternal and child health, and Motivational Interviewing.

Christine Lill H-204 908-910-7009

MSW (Fordham University), Assistant Coordinator of Undergraduate Practicum Education, with background in clinical social work; grants, oversight and implementation of Parent Education programs; DCP&P contracts; and administration of a community based social service agency. She has experience as both a Practicum instructor for Stockton College and a Practicum liaison for Rutgers University.

Sunny Mathew H-226 652-4427 (Ext. 4427)

Ph.D. (Fordham University), MSW (Mangalore University), Assistant Professor of Social Work, with a focus on parenting and child wellbeing in disadvantaged families. His research agenda focuses on the social and personal conditions of parents and their effects on the wellbeing of children in immigrant and socioeconomically disadvantaged families.

Hilda Rivera H-204 626-5922 Cell:(609) 997-8395

MSW (Rutgers University), Assistant Coordinator of Undergraduate Practicum Education, with background in children and families, children's behavioral health and a focus on Spanish-speaking families. She has worked over the years in the BSSW and MSW programs as a Practicum liaison and adjunct professor.

Allison N. Sinanan B-116 626-3561 (Ext. 3561)

Ph.D. (Fordham University), MSW (Adelphi University), Professor of Social Work, with a focus on sexual abuse recurrence in minority children. Her research agenda focuses on the oppression of students and families of color.

Simone Snyder F-206b 626-3186 (Ext. 3186)

DSW (Rutgers University), MSW (Rutgers University), Teaching Specialist, with a background in direct social work services in violence prevention and reproductive justice, grant writing and non-profit management, and teaching, curriculum development and training in social work. Her research interests include intimate partner and dating violence prevention and reproductive justice and birth professionals.

Educational Approaches

The Social Work Program at Stockton University offers a curriculum and a set of practicum experiences that prepare entry-level generalist social work practitioners. A generalist social work practitioner, competent in the knowledge, value, and skill base of social work practice, uses evaluative, problem-solving, and skills to assume supportive, advocacy and leadership roles in a variety of professional practice settings.

To become a generalist social work practitioner, you will need to obtain a solid foundation in the liberal arts, continuing with upper-level courses as you progress through the Junior and Senior sequences. To develop a broad understanding of the human condition, which is required in the more advanced social work courses, you will need to complete "cognate" courses, that is, courses in the social, behavioral, and natural sciences, such as sociology/anthropology/criminal justice, psychology, economics, political science, and human biology. With lower-level and upper-level² courses in these areas, you will develop an understanding of people's bio-psycho-socio-economic needs. In Social Work Program courses, you will learn about the value base of the social work profession and about ethical decision-making. Students will learn to understand the history of social welfare. You will develop an understanding of the social work profession, including its commitment to anti-racism, diversity, equity, and inclusion and to working with oppressed groups. You will develop an understanding of research methodology and of how to apply research findings to your practice. You will also develop an understanding of social work perspectives and theories, including ecological and systems theories, the person-in-environment perspective, the strengths perspective, and the empowerment approach. You will learn to integrate classroom learning with practicum experience, applying social work knowledge, values, and skills in an agency setting with client systems.

Social work education, especially practice and practicum courses, relies heavily on experiential learning. You will learn through reading, lectures, class discussion, guest speakers, and writing assignments—but also through experiential methods, such as role playing and other in-class exercises, and supervised work with client systems in a practicum setting. While taking SOWK 4601 and SOWK 4602, you will spend two or three days a week in the practicum (400 hours total for the year).

For an overall view of a typical way to fulfill Social Work Program requirements, see the Curriculum Plan and the Typical Social Work Curriculum, which follow.

Curriculum Plan

The Social Work (SOWK) Program offers you a unique interaction between classroom lectures and discussions and practicum observation and work. Course content in social welfare concepts and practice builds upon concepts from the humanities and from the natural, social, behavioral, and health sciences. The program consists of three core sequences of social work courses:

The Introductory Sequence

SOWK 1101 Introduction to Social Work (4 credits)

SOWK 1103 Human Behavior in the Social Environment (4 credits)

SOWK 2504 Race, Ethnicity, Diversity (4 credits)

You are introduced to the building blocks--knowledge, values, and skills—of generalist social work practice. These courses are taken in the first and second years, usually beginning the second term of the first year. During these two years, you are preparing to become a social work major. In addition to the courses listed above, you are expected to have made significant progress in completing the social work program's liberal arts foundation requirement prior to entering the Junior sequence. This includes courses in the following areas of instruction: psychology, sociology/anthropology/criminal justice, political science, economics and human biology; as well as a writing course, a freshman seminar, and 16 credit hours distributed among General Arts and Humanities (GAH), General Social and Behavioral Sciences (GSS), General Natural Sciences and Mathematics (GNM), and General Interdisciplinary Skills and Topics (GEN).

The Junior Sequence

You must successfully complete SOWK 1101 and SOWK 1103 or their equivalent before entering the Junior sequence.

SOWK 2103 Human Behavior Theory and Concepts (4credits) SOWK 3101 History of Social Welfare Policy (4 credits) SOWK 3102 Research Methods in Social Work (4 credits) SOWK 3604 Generalist Social Work Practice: Theory and Methods I (4 credits) SOWK 3605 Generalist Social Work Practice: Theory and Methods II (4 credits) SOWK 3905 Practicum (2 credits)

In the Junior year, having completed the introductory sequence and liberal arts base, you take courses to begin to integrate the knowledge, value, and skills of generalist social work practice. Students are formally admitted to the Social Work major beginning in the fall of their junior year with acceptance into Generalist Social Work Practice: Theory and Methods I. In order to register for this course all students must get the Permission of Instructor (POI) certificate. Students must have successfully taken Introduction to Social Work Human Behavior in the Social Environment courses or the equivalents. Students should also have 60-64 credits. Once students request permission of instructor in writing, the Theory and Methods instructor will review the student's academic transcript to verify completion of the two introductory courses. The instructor will notify students of their acceptance into the Theory and Methods I course. This signifies that a student has become a full-fledged Social Work major. In addition to the six courses listed above, you are expected to continue fulfilling General Studies requirements and should begin to complete more advanced social and behavioral science requirements (18 credits).

¹ The best courses to meet the human biology requirement include Physiological Psychology, Health Psychology, or Human Anatomy and Physiology. Other courses may be acceptable, please refer to the Social Work Curriculum Worksheet, Degree Works worksheet, and consult with your preceptor before registering for an alternate course to meet this requirement.

² "Upper level" courses are preferably at the 3000 level, although 2000 level courses also meet the requirement for upper-level courses. It is best to check with your preceptor.

The Senior Sequence

SOWK 4601 Senior Seminar: Social Work Practice I (4 credits)

SOWK 4901 Senior Practicum I (4 credits)

SOWK 4602 Senior Seminar: Social Work Practice II (4credits)

SOWK 4902 Senior Practicum II (4 credits)

In the Senior year, having completed the introductory and Junior sequences, you prepare to become a generalist social work practitioner through completing the integration of knowledge, values, and skills. In order to enter the Senior Seminar and Practicum courses and experience, you must have at least a 2.5 GPA in your Social Work courses. You apply to enter the Senior Practicum experience during the Spring of your Junior year. The application consists of an essay, the purpose of which is to deepen the ongoing process of self- evaluation and career discernment. In the essay, you will discuss your interests in social work, including specialization interests. (Many students find that this essay serves as the basis of the personal statement that they prepare when applying for admission to a graduate program in social work.) Based on your application essay, before the summer of your Senior year, you are assigned to your Senior practicum placement and are expected to contact your practicum supervisor for an interview. Opportunities for practicum experience and learning under professional supervision are available in the following settings, among others: child welfare, family services, schools, hospital and health care, behavioral health, developmental disabilities, services to the older adults, and criminal justice. Please consult the BSSW Practicum Handbook for more detailed information.

Social Work Curricular Guidelines – Junior and Senior Year

In order to advance through the Junior and Senior year of the Social Work program, students are required to meet academic and professional standards in their Social Work (SOWK) classes. To ensure students are obtaining necessary competencies needed to advance to the next course in any given practice sequence, students must receive a "C" in each practice/skills course. These courses are:

SOWK 3604

SOWK 3605

SOWK 3905

SOWK 4601

SOWK 4602

At mid-semester, practice course instructors will identify students performing below a C level and discuss strategies for improvement.

Electives and Opportunities for Concentrations, Minors, and Certificates

You are expected to elect additional courses from among any of the disciplines. With the inclusion of these electives and with advised selection of the courses that meet the program's general education and professionally related requirements, the curriculum is flexible enough to permit you to develop a concentration, minor, or certificate in another academic discipline or in one of Stockton's interdisciplinary programs such as Gerontology, Women's Studies, Africana Studies, Latin and Caribbean Studies, Holocaust and Genocide Studies, Childhood Studies, or Jewish Studies.

You may also take a number of other courses offered by social work faculty, e.g., SOWK 3650: Topics in Child Welfare; SOWK 3670: Child Welfare Services and Practice; GIS 3628 HIV/AIDS: The Epidemic; GERO/SOWK 3220: Aging & Spirituality; GERO 2292 Aging and the Family; GSS 3102 Effects of Media on Children; GSS 2612 Multiple Perspectives on Suicide; GSS 3203: Displaced population; GIS 3250 The Battered Child: Social Construction of Child Maltreatment; GAH 2406 Philippine Culture and History; GEN 1138-392 Perspectives on Childhood; GERO 3320 Spirituality and Aging; GSS 2194 Death and Dying; GSS 3615 Place Matters; GIS 3630 Finding Joseph; and AFRI 3602: Black Feminism.

You also may consider Independent Studies with appropriate faculty for interests not met by listed coursework. If you are interested in pursuing an M.S.W. degree, we strongly recommend that you enroll in a Statistics course.

Transferring from Community Colleges and Other Four-Year Institutions

If you have completed social work courses in other schools, you are granted those credits upon transferring to Stockton. If the material has been covered in a comparable course taken in another institution, you may be released from core social work courses offered by Stockton's Social Work Program. Credits in general education and professionally-related areas are accepted. Other courses in the human services arena are generally accepted as social work electives. If you have had the necessary prerequisite courses, you may be able to complete your degree requirements in this program in two additional years. Senior Seminar and practicum experiences are always required.

Curriculum Plan for Students Entering Their First Year

The Social Work (SOWK) Program offers you a unique interaction between classroom lectures and discussions and practicum observation and work. Course content in social welfare concepts and practice builds upon concepts from the humanities and from the natural, social, behavioral, and health sciences. The program consists of three core sequences of social work courses: The Introductory Sequence; The Junior Sequence and The Senior Sequence. These course sequences combine with the social work program's liberal arts foundation requirements, the FRST requirements and University General Studies requirements.

Please see below for a map to navigate all the requirements on route to graduation with a Bachelor of Science in Social Work degree.

	FIRST YEAR	
FALL Introduction to Psychology College Writing	(PSYC 1100) (FRST 1101)	At Some Distance
First Year Seminar	(FRST 1002)	(ASD) (W1) At Some Distance (ASD
Quantitative Reasoning (placement needed)	(FRST 1103)	At Some Distance (ASD) (Q1)
TOTAL = 16-credits		

SPRING

Introduction to Social Work (SOWK 1101) Intro to Anth, Socy, Gero, or Criminal Justice At Some Distance Course (ASD) General Studies Course

(These courses should satisfy R1 or R2; Arts or Values attributes)

TOTAL = 16-credits

SOPHOMORE YEAR

FALL

Human Behavior in the Social Environment (SOWK 1103) Intro to Political Science (POLS 1100 or any Intro course)

General Studies Course

W2

General Studies Course

(These courses should satisfy a W1 or

and Arts or Values attributes)

TOTAL = 16-credits

SPRING

Race, Ethnicity & Diversity (SOWK 2504) Economics (ECON 1120 or ECON 1200) General Studies Course

General Studies Course

(Satisfies R1 requirement) (Satisfies Q2 requirement)

(Social Work Biology requirement)

TOTAL = 16-credits

JUNIOR YEAR

FALL

Theory and Methods I (SOWK 3604)

Human Behavior Theory and Concepts (SOWK 2103)

History of Social Welfare Policy (SOWK 3101)

requirement)

Abnormal or Personality (PSYC 2211 or 3302)

Or General studies Course

(Satisfies H – History attribute

(Satisfies Advanced SOBL Cognate)

TOTAL = 16-credits

TOTAL TO-cicuits

SPRING

Theory and Methods II (SOWK 3605)

Field Practicum (SOWK 3905)

[2credits]

Research Methods (SOWK 3102)

Advanced SOBL Cognate or SW

Elective General Studies Course

(Satisfies Q2 requirement)

TOTAL = 18-credits

SENIOR YEAR

FALL

Senior Seminar I (SOWK 4601) Senior Practicum I (SOWK 4901 – 200 hrs) General Studies Course (GIS) Advanced SOBL Cognate or SW Elective (Satisfies W2 - 3000 or 4000 level)

TOTAL = 16-credits

SPRING

Senior Seminar II (SOWK 4602) Senior Practicum II (SOWK 4902 – 200hrs) Advanced SOBL Cognate or SW Elective Advanced SOBL Cognate or SW Elective (Satisfies W2 requirement)

TOTAL = 16-credits

Curriculum Plan for Students Transferring with 64 or More Credits

If you are transferring 64+ credits, that include courses that are comparable to core social work courses offered by Stockton's Social Work Program, you may be able to begin with the Junior Sequence. If you have had the prerequisite courses, you may be able to complete your degree requirements in this program in two additional years.

Please see below for a suggested schedule to navigate the requirements for transfer students with 64+ credits for graduation with a Bachelor of Science in Social Work degree.

JUNIOR YEAR - Transfer

FALL

Theory and Methods I (SOWK 3604)
History of Social Welfare Policy (SOWK 3101)
Satisfies H- Attribute)

Co-Requisite SOWK 3604;

Abnormal or Personality Psych (PSYC 2211 or 3302) General Studies Course

TOTAL = 16-credits

SPRING

Theory and Methods II (SOWK 3605) Field Practicum (SOWK 3905) [2-credits] Research Methods (SOWK 3102)

(Co-Requisite SOWK 3605) (Satisfies Q2 requirement)

Advanced SOBL	Cognat	e or SW
Elective General	Studies	Course

TOTAL = 18-credits

SENIOR YEAR – Transfer

FALL

Senior Seminar I (SOWK 4601) Senior Practicum I (SOWK 4901-200 hrs) General Studies Course – GIS Advanced SOBL Cognate or SW Elective

(Satisfies W2 3000-4000 level) (Co-Requisite SOWK 4601)

TOTAL = 16-credits

SPRING

Senior Seminar II (SOWK 4602) Senior Practicum II (SOWK 4902 – 200 hrs) General Studies Course Advanced SOBL Cognate or SW Elective (Satisfies W2 Requirement)

TOTAL = 16-credits

Additional Curriculum Information:

- **Biology Requirement: All Social Work students must complete one course in human biology. Acceptable courses include: GIS 3628, GERO 2107, GERO 2109, GIS 3319, GIS 4486, GNM 2108, GNM 2123, GNM 2144, GNM2151, GNM 2179, GNM 2201, GNM 2206, GNM 2336, GNM 3105, GNM 3318, GSS 2161, PSYC 2212, PSYC 3331, BIOL 1180, BIOL 2180 or other courses approved by Social Work preceptor. The course used to meet this area may also be used in another area as appropriate.
- "G" courses are general studies/liberal arts courses. Students must meet the following distribution requirements: 1 GEN (general), 2 GAH (arts/humanities), 2 GSS (social sciences), 2 GNM (natural sciences and mathematics), and 1 GIS (integration seminar in Junior or Senior year).
- Students transferring in with 64+ credits must meet the following distributions of General Studies requirements: 1GIS (integration seminar in Junior of Senior year) AND 3 additional "G" courses they can be any combination of "G" course offerings (GAH, GSS, GNM, GIS, and GEN)
- "AIHV" are attributes, signifying a course's focus on the following content: A=Arts; I=International/Multicultural; H=Historical Consciousness; V=Values/Ethics. All students must take one course with each attribute.

- Race and Racism Education (R1 and R2): You must complete one R1 course and one additional R1 or R2 course. A minimum grade of C is required for the R1 course; a minimum grade of D is required for any R2 course taken to fulfill this requirement. At least one of the two required courses must be taken at Stockton.
- "W-1, W-2, Q-1, Q-2" indicates that a course contains a significant focus on teaching writing or quantitative reasoning skills. All students must take 4 W's and 3 Q's (as indicated above). Students must earn a C or above in a course to receive the W attribute. Senior seminar courses both have a W2 attribute. However, it is strongly encouraged that students take an extra W2; if a grade of C or below is earned in second semester senior seminar and there is no extra W2 available, the student will not meet graduation requirements.
- All courses award 4-credits, unless otherwise specified.
- For a complete explanation of the Social Work and Stockton University curriculum please refer to the Social Work program handbook and the Stockton Bulletin.

Credit for Life Experience

The Social Work Program does not grant credit for life experience or previous work experience.

Advising (Precepting)

As soon as you decide to major in social work, you should ask to be assigned to a social work preceptor. All Social Work Faculty members are preceptors. Your preceptor will be your guide to help you to move towards becoming a social work professional and to help you choose the courses that you will need to fulfill graduation requirements. Feel free to engage in frank and candid discussions about your experiences as a student, your career plans, or any problems you encounter in the program. Your preceptor can also help you to find, if needed, other university or community supportive services. You are encouraged to get to know your preceptor and to meet with them regularly---at the very least once each semester, on designated Preceptorial Advising days.

Graduation Requirements

You are required by the university to complete a minimum of 128 credits, including 32 credits from designated General Studies courses. Courses in General Arts and Humanities (GAH), General Natural Sciences and Mathematics (GNM), General Social and Behavioral Sciences (GSS), General Interdisciplinary Skills and Topics (GEN), and General Integration and Synthesis (GIS) will allow you additional opportunities to build upon the liberal arts and knowledge base of the profession. You must also complete 16 credits in courses that are At Some Distance from your major. This assures your education is firmly grounded in liberal arts and sciences. Transfer students are given credits for appropriate work done at other accredited institutions. You are also required to fulfill requirements in Writing (W1, W2), Quantitative Reasoning (Q1, Q2), Race and Racism Education (R1, R2), Historical Consciousness (H), the Arts (A), Values (V), and International/Multicultural (I) courses. (It is essential for you to consult with your preceptor regularly to create and monitor a plan for meeting all university requirements.) To graduate with

a Social Work major, students must have maintained a 2.5 GPA in Social Work Program courses and must have received a grade of "C" or higher in Junior and Senior practice/skills courses.

Students may only repeat a social work course once ONLY if their first grade is a C- or lower. *If a grade of C- or less is earned in any required social work course, the student may repeat the course once at Stockton. Students can only repeat 3 courses total.

If a class is repeated, the lower grade will not be calculated in the Social Work GPA. Even if a student has a Social Work GPA of 2.5 or higher, their overall GPA must be 2.0 in order to graduate from the University.

Graduation with Distinction

A Bachelor of Science degree with distinction in social work will be awarded to those students who achieve a 3.5 GPA in <u>all Stockton program and cognate courses</u>, successfully complete the Senior Practicum placement <u>and</u> complete an honors project.

Phi Alpha Honor Society

A Bachelor of Science degree with induction into the Phi Alpha Honor Society for social work majors is an opportunity for social work students who have completed at least 9 Social Work credits at Stockton and are in the top 35% of all Social Work majors. Prior to the start of the spring semester, those social work students in the top 35% will be invited to apply to the Phi Alpha honor society. Students will be contacted via email and instructed on how to accept the invitation. Induction ceremony will be held during the spring semester.

Social Work Club

The student social work club was established in 1976 as a social and service organization. In the early years, their activities resulted in many concrete contributions to Stockton University students and faculty, including sponsoring a nationally renowned advocate and leader of human rights to speak to the University and establishing a Student Referral Service to enable fellow students to make contact with health, counseling and other social service organizations within the community. Over the years, the club has organized special forums with members of the professional community (e.g. NASW-NJ licensing and certification forum and graduate school forums), sponsored the Ospreython dance fundraiser for CHOP, and conducted countless other drives and fundraisers (cell phones for military overseas, dresses/professional clothing for women, winter coats for the Atlantic City Rescue Mission, and hair-care products for women of color in homeless shelters, among others). The social work club is also visible in the community through volunteer work and activism including social justice marches, soup kitchens, Habitat for Humanity, the Atlantic City Healthplex, and others. The social work club also provides the opportunity to collaborate with faculty and other Stockton clubs and organizations. The social work club is not just for social work majors; we welcome anyone interested in promoting and advocating for social justice issues. For further information, please email: stocktonsocialworkclub@gmail.com or stay connected via Instagram @stockton swc.

Student Rights

Social Work students have all the rights enumerated in the 2024-2025 University Bulletin.

Representatives from the Social Work Club are invited to participate in all Social Work Program meetings. By practice, officers or their designees are invited to attend such meetings. Faculty members and student representatives discuss issues related to policy and curriculum changes, course availability, practicum experiences and alumni concerns. On-going opportunities to evaluate faculty performance are provided each semester through Stockton's Student Evaluation of Teaching process.

A Social Work Program faculty member serves as adviser to the Social Work Club. Other members of the Social Work Program faculty also visit Social Work Club meetings on occasion. This encourages informal interaction among all those involved in the Social Work Program. Student feedback is a crucial component in the assessment of program effectiveness.

Baccalaureate Child Welfare Program (BCWEP)

The Baccalaureate Child Welfare Education Program (BCWEP) is a consortium of undergraduate social work programs in New Jersey who are working in partnership with the New Jersey Department of Children and Families on enhancing recruitment and retention for caseworkers in public child welfare.

Established in 2005, BCWEP provides tuition (minus any awarded scholarships or grants), to selected undergraduate social work students throughout New Jersey to support them during their internship year at the Division of Child Protection and Permanency (DCP&P). Students are placed at local DCP&P offices throughout the state under supervision of credentialed practicum instructors. Students also take at least one specialized course in child welfare. Successful applicants for the program must commit to working for at least two years in a caseworker position within DCP&P. Stockton University Social Work Program is the lead institution. For more information about BCWEP please contact the BCWEP office at 609-652-4260 or BCWEP@stockton.edu.

Graduate Study

Many students who receive their Bachelor of Science degree in Social Work eventually decide to attend graduate school, often to pursue the MSW degree. Almost all of our graduates receive Advanced Standing when accepted into an MSW Program. Stockton University's MSW program has been operating since 2010 and has been a primary beneficiary of Stockton BSSW Alumni seeking admission to graduate level study in social work.

Other programs that students choose to go to attend for their MSW degrees include Rutgers, Monmouth, and Temple Universities, while another 8 to 10 graduate schools, including Fordham, Columbia, Widener, the University of Pennsylvania, and Ramapo College have conferred the MSW degree upon our graduates. Several of our graduates have successfully pursued advanced degrees in other academic and professional disciplines, such as Divinity, Law, and Public Administration.

Career Opportunities/Employment Demand

The Bachelor of Science (B.S.) in social work has been recognized by the Council on Social Work Education and the National Association of Social Workers as the entry-level professional degree in social work. Job opportunities exist in a wide range of public and private social welfare agencies and institutions. Many state Civil Service commissions, including New Jersey's, recognize the Bachelor of Science degree in social work as qualification for a professional

social work position. Graduate programs leading to the master of social work (MSW) degree are available at most major universities.

Both the Baccalaureate and Master level students are employed in multiple human service settings throughout the Southern region and the State of New Jersey. Employers include: Rutgers School of Social Work; Atlantic County Women's Shelter; Bergen County Prosecutor's Office; New Jersey Division of Youth and Family Services; Administrative Offices of the Court; Federation of Jewish Agencies; Family Service Association of Atlantic County; AtlantiCare Behavioral Health; Ancora Psychiatric Hospital; County Office on Aging; County Welfare Boards; Atlantic City Medical Center; Big Brothers/Big Sisters of Atlantic County; and the Arc of Atlantic County.

Certification and Licensure

All states now have some form of state licensure or certification for social workers. In New Jersey there are three possibilities: CSW (Certified Social Worker), LSW (Licensed Social Worker), and LCSW (Licensed Clinical Social Worker). Once you have obtained your BS in Social Work, you are eligible to obtain the CSW. Currently in NJ, there is no examination for this certification. To obtain your CSW, you need to contact the State Board of Social Work Examiners at 973-504-6495 or visit www.state.nj.us/oag/ca/social/index.htm. Once you have obtained your CSW, you will need to earn Continuing Education credits to maintain your certification. Licensure in New Jersey is limited to individuals who have obtained an MSW and who have passed the relevant examinations and met the experience requirements as stipulated by the New Jersey State Board of Social Work Examiners.

Community Advisory Board

The Community Advisory Committee assists the social work program in the assessment and implementation of the internship policies and curriculum. This committee will meet a minimum of once each semester to review policies and procedures, discuss student needs and challenges, recruit additional agency partners, address concerns in ever evolving and changing service delivery as it relates to internships, and offer suggestions and recommendations for program improvement. Committee members will be recommended and nominated by program staff and faculty. Efforts will be made to incorporate different dimensions of diversity, including geographical location and type of social work experience. The committee serves as an important link between agency partners in the community with the Social Work Program and the University.

Stockton Social Work Undergraduate Student Code of Conduct

Stockton's Social Work Undergraduate program develops leaders in the social work profession whose work advances professional values, knowledge and skills through programs and policy that enhance well-being and promote human rights and social justice at the local, national and global level.

In preparing students for careers in social work practice, the Social Work Undergraduate Program expects all students to adhere to the highest academic and professional standards, which include Stockton Social Work Program's Key Attributes of a Social Worker, the NASW Code of Ethics, and the University policies on academic honesty, and code of conduct.

Students will be held accountable to the ethical and behavioral standards described in the Stockton Social Work Undergraduate Student Code of Conduct. Any violation of the Code is grounds for (a) failure from a course; (b) referral to the Professional Standing Committee; (c) a mandatory leave of absence from the program; and/or (d) administrative withdrawal from the program.

Social Work Program Policy and Procedures Concerning Program Standards and Termination of Students

Students are informally accepted into the Social Work Program upon declaring their intent to major in social work by filling out a declaration of major form, which is obtained online https://www.stockton.edu/academic-advising/forms.html OR from Stockton's Office of Academic Advising. Students can declare their major at the freshman, sophomore, or Junior level. Once declared, students choose a social work preceptor and begin to discern whether social work is compatible with their interests and values. At the same time, faculty begin to assess students' "fit" with professional expectations and standards. This policy clarifies how students formally become candidates for a degree in social work and states the conditions under which they may be counseled to consider other career options. If the student is planning to declare the major as a rising junior, they should consult with a social work preceptor about completing the required prerequisite courses.

Students are formally admitted to the Social Work major beginning in the fall of their junior year with acceptance into Generalist Social Work Practice: Theory and Methods I. In this course, students begin to integrate the knowledge, value, and skills of generalist social work practice. In order to register for this course all students must get the Permission of Instructor (POI) certificate. Students must have successfully taken Introduction to Social Work Human Behavior in the Social Environment courses or the equivalents. Students should also have 60-64 credits. Once students request permission of instructor in writing, the Theory and Methods instructor will review the student's academic transcript to verify completion of the two introductory courses. The instructor will notify students of their acceptance into the Theory and Methods I course. This denotes that a student has become a full-fledged Social Work major.

Good Academic Standing, Probation, and Dismissal Procedure

A student with a cumulative grade point average below 2.0 will be placed on Academic Probation and notified accordingly by the University. A student on Academic Probation is expected to meet with his/her advisor/preceptor to discuss a Student Performance Improvement Plan (SPIP) upon receiving notification of probation status.

Students are also expected to maintain a GPA of no less than 2.50 in all Social Work Program courses. A minimum 2.50 GPA in Social Work Program courses is required for graduation as a social work major. Students must have a cumulative GPA of 2.0 and have maintained a **2.50 GPA** in Social Work Program courses before they are allowed to take the following courses: Senior Seminar: Social Work Practice I (SOWK 4601), Senior Practicum I (SOWK 4901) and Senior Practicum II (SOWK 4902).

Students must also receive a minimum grade of "C" in all Junior and Senior level practice/skills courses (SOWK 3604/3605 and SOWK 4601/4602).

If a student's GPA for Social Work Program courses is below the required 2.50 minimum and he/she is not able to enroll in SOWK 4601 or SOWK 4901, he/she is subject to termination and dismissal from the Social Work Program for academic reasons. The Program chair will provide written notice of such dismissal to the student. If there is a procedural error in terminating a student from the Social Work Program for academic reasons, the student may appeal in writing to the Dean of the Social and Behavioral Sciences Division. The appeal must be accompanied by evidence in support of the appeal. Documentation of appeal must be submitted to the Dean no later than two weeks following notice of academic termination from the Program.

Academic Honesty

Academic honesty is a very serious issue. All students enrolled at Stockton University are required to follow all University policies including the Academic Honesty Policy specified in the *Stockton University Bulletin*. Unless specifically designated otherwise, all work is expected to be the student's own, independent effort. When in doubt about how to complete an assignment properly, students need to consult with the appropriate faculty member.

In cases involving charges of academic dishonesty, University policy calls for procedures with up to six steps, beginning with the faculty member determining alleged academic dishonesty and filing a charge. The following amendment to University procedure applies to students in undergraduate courses:

In Step 1 of the University Policy and Procedures for academic dishonesty, the faculty member must notify the Office of the Provost of a charge of academic dishonesty and include documentation. In addition, each faculty member has the ability request a Professional Performance Review to the Professional Standing Committee. Upon consultation with the faculty member and the undergraduate program, the Professional Standing Committee may vote to dismiss the student from the program. Steps 2 and 3 of the procedure outlined in the *Stockton University Bulletin* outline the Office of the Provost's responsibilities as well as the procedure for a student's response to

the charge. The individual faculty member who is teaching the class has the discretion to give the student a failing grade for that course.

Academic Honesty Appeals Board

Academic dishonesty is a serious violation of academic policy and the Campus Conduct Code and is punishable by severe sanctions including suspension and expulsion. The range of sanctions imposed is contingent on several factors, including the decision of the faculty member making the charge, whether it is the student's first or a repeat offense, and the extent and nature of the offense.

If a student appeals the charge of academic dishonesty, the Academic Honesty Appeals Board, a standing committee consisting of faculty and select students, will hear the case. The Academic Honesty Appeals Board makes a recommendation to the Provost, who renders the final decision on the appeal.

Other Grounds for Dismissal

In addition to the minimum 2.50 GPA in Social Work Program courses that is required for students to remain enrolled in the program, the Undergraduate Program has additional Professional Program Standards.

Professional Program Standards

In general, students who meet academic standards will have no difficulty meeting professional standards. However, on occasion a student may possess all the requisite academic skills and yet may not be ready to meet the emotional challenges of undergraduate studies. This lack of readiness would be evidenced by behaviors that emerge in the classroom, in relations with professors or other students, or in practicum. Since it is possible for a student to have difficulty relating with one particular professor or practicum instructor, the decision to terminate or take other disciplinary action against an undergraduate student (i.e., place on probation, suspension) will not be made by only one person but will be the decision of the Professional Standing Committee.

Behaviors that may result in a student being considered for professional termination or other disciplinary action (i.e., probation, suspension) include the following:

- Behaviors in violation of the Campus Conduct Code (as found in *the Stockton University Bulletin*)
- "Key Attributes" listed on page 12-13 are not demonstrated, and student has not responded to a meeting with faculty.
- Consistent failure to meet generally accepted standards of professional conduct and personal integrity, as described in the NASW *Code of Ethics*
- Disruptive behavior towards other students, faculty, University staff, agency staff, practicum instructors, or agency clients
- Consistent inability to form effective helping relationships (e.g., lack of respect for client self- determination, inability to be non-judgmental, discriminatory behavior, lack of cultural competence and appreciation for social diversity with respect to race, ethnicity, gender, sexual orientation, socioeconomic class, age, disability, and religion).
- Lack of minimal self-awareness that consistently interferes with ability to relate to others

- (e.g., uses self-disclosure inappropriately in the classroom, practicum placement, or the profession; is unable to work toward resolving one's personal issues that may impair academic and/or professional performance)
- A pattern of irresponsible behavior, such as excessive tardiness and/or absenteeism in class or in practicum
- Present or history of past felony convictions that would seriously compromise the ability to work as a social worker (e.g., conviction for sexual abuse of children).
- Substance Abuse
- Behaviors that indicate lack of professional integrity or emotional stability (e.g., lying, cheating, or plagiarizing in program applications or practicum work)

<u>Procedures for Professional Termination or Other Disciplinary Action (i.e., Probation,</u> Suspension) and Due Process Guarantees

- No student will be considered for professional termination on the basis of race, ethnic origin, gender, sexual orientation, age, or disability status
- All decisions to terminate or take other disciplinary action against an undergraduate student (i.e., place on probation, suspension) for professional performance will be made by the Professional Standing Committee.
- The Professional Standing Committee (PSC) makes final determinations and implements disciplinary action involving, remedial plans, professional improvement plans, program suspension or program termination. Notice of final determinations will be sent to the student, BSSW program, Registrar, Dean of Social and Behavioral Sciences.

Professional Performance Review

Students are expected to maintain the standards set forth in the *Stockton University Academic Bulletin*, the Social Work Program Student Handbook, the National Association of Social Workers *Code of Ethics*, and course syllabi. If a student fails to meet required professional program standards, he/she may be subject to a performance review.

A performance review is intended to provide students and faculty the opportunity to openly identify and discuss performance problems. The request for a performance review may be made to the attention of the Professional Standing Committee by any member of the Social Work program, by a practicum instructor, instructor, or a group of instructors in a course or courses in which the student is enrolled. (For procedural details see Procedure for Requesting and Conducting a Professional Performance Review below.) A student who engages in any behavior identified as "behavior that may result in a student being considered for program termination or other disciplinary action (i.e., probation, suspension)" may be subject to a Professional Performance Review.

Professional Standing Committee Composition and Operation

Every two years, at the first Social Work program Faculty Meeting, the full program will select a Professional Standing Committee for the term of two years. The members of the Committee will select the Committee Chair. The Program chair may not be a member or chair of the Committee. The Committee shall be composed of at least one principally assigned faculty of

the BSSW and MSW to be on the committee. A complete Professional Standing Committee will consist of three faculty members and two alternates.

No Committee member may consider a case in which he/she is considered to have a conflict of interest, as determined by the Program Chair. The Chair will designate an alternate member(s) to consider a case in place of a regular Committee member deemed to have a conflict of interest or to fill the absence of a regular Committee member. If additional alternates are necessary, the Committee Chair shall advise the Program chair who shall bring the issue to the full Program.

The Professional Standing Committee (PSC) is a system for early detection of problems in professional performance. The Professional Standing Committee will: 1) review criteria for performance review, 2) make recommendations to the Program for updates or changes to the review process, 3) receive requests for review of student performance, 4) review requests for review of student performance, and 5) make decisions on all reviewed requests. The Committee may decide that there is no basis for further action or that a specific student contract must be established for a probationary period before determining the need for further action. The contract will include problems to be solved, actions to be taken to solve the problems, a time period to carry out identified actions and re-evaluation of student performance, and consequences for noncompliance. The Committee will work with the student, his/her preceptor, and other relevant persons. In addition, the Committee may make final determination to terminate the student from the social work program for the following reasons: if the student refuses to develop a contract, fails to fulfill the contract, or if during the process of completing the contract some serious negative behavior or failing academic performance occurs. Termination or dismissal can occur in any semester, including the last semester of enrollment in the Program.

Possible Outcomes from Professional Standing Committee Review

Probation: The student is placed on probation and may continue in the program for a time-limited period to allow for completion of the contract.

Suspension: The student is temporarily removed from the program and required to complete a contract as developed with the Professional Standing Committee.

Termination/Dismissal: The student is no longer permitted to be in the social work program.

Program Procedure for Requesting and Conducting Professional Performance Review

- 1. Before filing a request with the Committee, the potential Requester must make all reasonable efforts to resolve the matter with the student(s), including, but not limited to meeting with the student, reviewing the issue(s) with the Program chair, and, if recommended by the Program chair, meeting with a representative from the Office of Care and Community Standards. All such efforts to resolve must be documented in writing by the potential Requester, regardless of whether a request is dealt with by the Committee.
- 2. If an eligible person files a request with the Committee, it must be filed with the Committee Chair in writing, dated, and signed by the Requester and must include

written documentation of: (1) the specifics of each actual performance incident on which the request is based, including student name(s), date, location, approximate time, and names of persons present; (2) all efforts to resolve prior to filing with the Committee, as required by point 1 above, with written documentation of same; (3) The requestor will need to provide an explanation of how the incident or behaviors are connected to the behaviors described, how it links to our code of ethics, and provide examples and (4) the Requester's recommended action. Additional supportive documents will be required as appropriate, practicum evaluations, email conversations, social media content etc.

- 3. Barring extenuating circumstances, the Committee shall notify the Requester in writing within two weeks of its decision on whether their request meets Committee requirements for review. A Committee decision requires a majority vote.
- 4. If a review is granted, the Committee will send written notification to the student(s) and Requester of the decision, including a copy of the Requester's request; a copy of the Policy and Procedure regarding Professional Performance; notice to the student that they must submit a written reply to the Requester's filing to the Committee within one week of receipt of the notice; and a statement a Committee representative will contact both parties within two weeks to schedule a review. Barring extenuating circumstances, the Committee shall make a reasonable effort to schedule a review within two weeks of mailing the notice.
- 5. Students responding to a Requester filing may have a representative assist them with the process, including being on-site at the Committee and will be notified of such in the initial written communication with the student. However, in all cases, the students must speak for themselves and the representative shall have no right to speak to the Committee, other than introducing themselves to the Committee. For the purpose of this section, a representative may include only one person who may only be a person from the Stockton community (student, faculty, or staff).
- 6. Committee reviews are opportunities for both the Requester(s) and student(s) to submit their positions orally and in writing for Committee review. The Requester(s) and student(s) each will have a maximum of 15 minutes for their oral presentation. The oral presentations for both the Requestor and the Student will take place separately. The Committee review does not include cross-examination between the parties; only questions by the Committee members. A Requester(s) or student(s) may ask the Committee chair to consider asking a question to the student(s) or Requester(s), respectively. The Committee chair has full discretion in deciding whether to honor the request.
- 7. All evidence presented by the Requester(s) and student(s) must be presented in writing to the Committee Chair within 7 days prior to the review. No additional evidence will be permitted during the scheduled review.
- 8. Barring extenuating circumstances, the Committee shall issue a written decision to the student(s), and requester, copying the undergraduate Program chair, Registrar, and Dean of the School of Social and Behavioral Sciences within two

weeks of the review meeting. A committee decision requires a majority vote. The decision will be mailed electronically and to the student's permanent address on record and include: the final decision (i.e., probation subject to contract development and compliance, suspension, or termination), and its effective date. All committee decisions shall be considered final and consented to by the student unless the student exercises his/her appeal rights.

Procedure for Appeal of Professional Standing Committee Review Decision

Refer to the following statement in <u>University Procedure 2019</u> "Student Status – Categories and Criteria"

An academic dismissal can be appealed by an undergraduate student to the Office of the Provost via academic.appeals@stockton.edu. The Office of the Provost will hear cases of dismissal based solely on procedural grounds. The Dean of the school where the undergraduate program resides will consider appeals of dismissal based on non-academic grounds. Appeals of non-academic dismissals will be considered based solely on procedural grounds.

Confidentiality

All procedures must be confidential to protect student's rights to privacy. All parties involved are expected to comply with this requirement.

Procedures for Readmission to the Social Work Program

Students who have been terminated for reasons of academic and/or professional performance from the Social Work Program may seek to be readmitted later. A terminated student who displays renewed determination to complete the program satisfactorily may reapply for acceptance after a wait of at least one year. The procedure for requesting reacceptance is to write a formal letter to the Social Work Program chair to request a personal appearance before the Social Work Program. At this time, the student should provide clear evidence of academic and/or professional growth during the period that he or she was out of the Program.

Policy to Inform Students of Additions or Changes to the Student Handbook

The Social Work Student Handbook is available to each student electronically on the Social Work Program's webpage and contains curriculum information and the policies that will pertain to the student during their time at Stockton University. The Social Work Program's Student Handbook is reviewed and updated yearly each June. New or revised policies faculty deem important enough to implement immediately upon adoption will be provided to students in writing. Such policies can include, but are not limited to, issues of safety, program mission, goals and expected student outcomes. When policies change the following process applies:

- 1. Every student will be informed of the new policy or a change to an existing policy by the social work faculty at the first class meeting following policy adoption.
- 2. The policy will be explained at this time by the faculty member teaching the course.

A Final Word

We hope this handbook answers many of your questions about Stockton's Social Work Program. If you have additional questions or concerns, please feel free to contact the Social Work Program chair or your preceptor, or visit www.stockton.edu/bsw.

COVID-19 Statement: Students are expected to follow Stockton University mask and social distancing policies, both in the classroom and during class breaks. When mask-wearing policies are in effect, this means fully covering the nose and mouth. Because social distancing and mask-wearing are acts that protect others, following COVID protocols reflects core social work values such as service, dignity and worth of the person, and the importance of human relationships. Social justice demands creating a safe and healthy environment for all students, including those unable to vaccinate due to health reasons. Further, following institutional policies reflects professionalism and competence. All instructors will require students to follow any COVID policies that are in effect. Students who repeatedly do not respond to instructor requests regarding COVID safety will be asked to leave the classroom and will be marked as absent for that class or activity.